FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
Supreme Court No. _____
State of Washington
11/9/2017 4:58 PM
THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SOUTHWICK, INC., a Washington Corporation,

APPELLANT,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE, AND ITS DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING BUSINESS AND
PROFESSIONS DIVISION, WASHINGTON STATE FUNERAL AND CEMETERY BOARD,

RESPONDENTS.

APPELLANT SOUTHWICK, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

OWENS DAVIES, P.S.
Matthew B. Edwards
1115 West Bay Drive, Suite 302
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 943-8320
WSBA No. 18332

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Due Process Issues

1. Whether an agency initiating a quasi-criminal disciplinary proceeding by filing a statement of charges may find the defendant to have violated a statute when the alleged violation was not charged?

Short Answer: An agency may not, consistent with due process, find a defendant in violation of a statute when the alleged violation was not charged.

2. After discovery has closed, an agency, in a summary judgment proceeding, determines that the defendant did not violate any statute whose violation was alleged in the statement of charges. However, rather than enter an order of dismissal, the agency determines the defendant

to have violated a third statute. Until the entry of the summary judgment decision, this statute had never been mentioned. To the extent it addresses the uncharged statute, is the summary judgment decision void?

Short Answer: A summary judgment determining the defendant to have violated a statute, without giving the defendant any prior notice that the defendant was charged with violating the statute, or any opportunity to be heard as to whether it violated the statute, violates due process and is therefore void.

3. The agency files an amended statement of charges a few days before hearing defendant's motion challenging the void summary judgment decision. The agency's amended statement of charges does **not** allege a violation of the statute raised for the first time in the void summary judgment decision. After hearing the motion challenging the void summary judgment decision, the agency issues a final order which expressly incorporates the findings and conclusions of the void summary judgment decision. Is the final order also void?

Short Answer: Because the void summary judgment was entered in violation of the defendant's due process rights, it is without *any* effect. Because it relied on and incorporated a void decision, the agency's final order imposing penalties is also void.

Statutory Interpretation Issue

4. The Legislature has specifically authorized cemetery operators to adopt and enforce rules governing the interment of human remains within a cemetery. The cemetery operator adopts rules that specifically grant it the authority, not conditioned on prior notice, to remove and re-inter the remains in the event of an error in the interment of the remains. The cemetery operator enters into a contract with each deceased person or the legal representative of each deceased person whose cremated, encased remains are buried in an urn garden in the cemetery which incorporates the cemetery's rules.

RCW 68.50.140 forbids the disinterment of interred remains "without authority of law." Does the cemetery operator act with "authority of law" when, in response to the lawful demand of a city utility to remove all obstructions from an easement which runs through the cemetery, the cemetery operator, acting under the authority of its rules, moves the cremated, encased remains in the urn garden the minimum distance necessary to relocate the urn garden outside the easement area?

Short Answer: A cemetery operator who relocates cremated, encased human remains under the authority expressly reserved to it by rules

made part of the contract pursuant to which it accepted the remains for burial acts "with authority of law," and therefore does not violate RCW 68.50.140.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. In order to prevent the state's oldest and most historic cemetery from becoming derelict, Southwick volunteers to take over operation of Forest Memorial Cemetery.

Forest Memorial Cemetery, the only cemetery located within the city limits of Olympia, Washington, is the oldest continuously operating cemetery in this state. AR 134, 279. Originally established in 1857, Forest Memorial Cemetery was operated for many years by the Forest Cemetery Association. *Id.*

In 1947, the Forest Cemetery Association granted the City of Olympia a waterline easement. AR 134, 141-42. The City of Olympia installed a large water line in the easement, which provides the City with its main supply of water. AR 134-35.

By the late 1980s, the Forest Cemetery Association had become moribund. There was no one running the cemetery. The cemetery was not being maintained. AR 135.

In order to prevent this historic cemetery from becoming derelict, Southwick (whose owners operated a cemetery in the City of Lacey) volunteered to take over the operation of this cemetery. AR 135. Southwick entered into a written agreement providing for this with the

state Cemetery Board. AR 135, 144-45. As part of its agreement with the Cemetery Board, Southwick agreed to honor contracts for pre-arranged funeral services entered into by the former owners and operators of the cemetery, even though there were no funds available to pay for the cost of these services. *Id.* As a result, Southwick has never made a profit on account of its operation of the cemetery. AR 136. See also AR 6 (Finding of Fact 3.7).

Because there was no one associated with the Forest Cemetery Association remaining at the time Southwick took over operation of the cemetery, Southwick simply began operating the cemetery without any formal conveyance of title. As a result, Southwick never learned of the existence of the City of Olympia's waterline easement. AR 136. See also AR 6 (Finding of Fact 3.7).

As authorized by RCW 68.20.060 and 68.24.110, Southwick adopted rules and regulations modeled after those adopted by Evergreen Washelli Cemetery in Seattle. AR 136, 147-172. The rules specifically provided Southwick with the right, upon discovering that there had been an error in the placement of remains, to remove and reinter the remains:

The Corporation reserves the right to correct errors made by it in making interments, disinterments or removals . . .
In the event the error shall involve the interment of the remains of any person in such property, the Corporation reserves and shall have the right to

remove and reinter the remains in the property conveyed in lieu thereof.

AR 163 (emphasis added).

Nothing in its rules purported to condition Southwick's right to remove and reinter remains on prior notice to any party. AR 137, 174. Each of the contracts pursuant to which Southwick sold the right to be interred in the urn garden incorporated these rules. *Id.*

Southwick established the Devotion Urn Garden in an area immediately adjacent to a large monument that had been constructed by the previous owner/operator of the cemetery. AR 136-37, 280. Prior to 2011, Southwick entered into contracts pursuant to which the cremated remains of 37 persons, encased in burial urns, were located within small plots within the urn garden. AR 137, 280.

B. The City of Olympia demands that Southwick remove all obstructions that might interfere with the City's emergency repair of the City's aging waterline. In response to this lawful demand, and acting under the authority of its rules, Southwick moves the Devotion Urn Garden the minimum distance necessary to relocate it outside of the easement area.

In August, 2011, concerned that it might need quick access to its aging waterline in the event of its failure, the City of Olympia advised Southwick that it possessed an easement for the waterline that ran through the cemetery and demanded that Southwick remove any obstructions located within the easement area. AR 137, 179-85, 280-81. After the City

performed a survey, Southwick realized that it had unknowingly established the Devotion Urn Garden within the easement area. AR 136-37. See also AR 6 (Finding of Fact 3.7).

Acting on the authority of its rules, Southwick relocated the Devotion Urn Garden by moving it approximately eight or nine feet, the minimum distance necessary, to relocate it outside the easement area. AR 137-38. It also improved the garden, the adjoining monument, and nearby areas. *Id.* Each of the urns remained in the same plot, retaining the same relationship to each other plot, as before. *Id.* See also AR 6 (Finding of Fact 3.7).

No one with a legal interest in the cremated remains was confused about, or concerned by, the slight shift in location of the urn garden. AR 138. Southwick received comments uniformly appreciative of the upgrades Southwick had made to the appearance of the urn garden and cemetery. *Id.* In particular, by letter received on May 27, 2014, Connie Thompson, the surviving child of Orville and Louise Thompson, whose cremated remains were in the urn garden, complimented Southwick on what it had done. AR 138, 193.

Subsequently, Orville and Louise Thompson's granddaughter, a person with no legal right with respect to any of the remains located in the

urn garden, complained that Southwick had failed to provide advance notice of the relocation of the garden. AR 138-39.

C. The agency initiates a disciplinary proceeding against Southwick by filing a statement of charges.

The Washington State Cemetery Board (hereinafter "agency") initiated a quasi-criminal¹ license revocation proceeding against Southwick. As required by the Administrative Procedure Act,² the agency filed a statement of charges identifying two³ statutes which the agency alleged Southwick to have violated. AR 15-17 (Appendix A).

By RCW 68.20.060, the Legislature has authorized cemetery authorities to "make, adopt, . . . and enforce rules" By RCW 68.24.110, the Legislature has authorized cemetery authorities to "sell and convey plots or rights of interment subject to [such] rules." Prior to the filing of the statement of charges, Southwick advised the agency that it had relocated the Devotion Urn Garden using the authority to remove and reinter remains under its rules. AR 56.

¹ *Washington Med. Disciplinary Bd. v. Johnston*, 98 Wn.2d 466, 474, 663 P.2d 457 (1983) (citing cases).

² See RCW 18.235.050 (providing disciplinary authority shall initiate such proceedings by filing statement of charges); RCW 18.235.060 (incorporating procedures set forth in Administrative Procedure Act as rules governing such proceedings); RCW 34.05.434(g) (notice initiating proceeding must include "a reference to the particular sections of the statutes . . . involved").

³ The agency's original statement of charges alleged a violation of RCW 68.50.220. AR 16 (Appendix A). The agency filed an amended statement of charges which withdrew the allegation that Southwick violated this statute. AR 379-81 (Appendix B).

The agency's statement of charges did not address the authority pursuant to which Southwick had advised the agency it acted. Instead, the agency alleged that Southwick had violated two statutes, RCW 68.24.060 and RCW 68.50.200. AR 16 (Appendix A).

RCW 68.24.060 provides:

Any part or subdivision of the property so mapped and plotted **may**, by order of the directors, be resurveyed and altered in shape and size and an amended map or plat filed, so long as such change does not disturb the interred remains of any deceased person.

(Emphasis added). RCW 68.50.200 provides:

Human remains **may** be removed from a plot in a cemetery with the consent of the cemetery authority and the written consent of one of the following in the order named . . .

(Emphasis added). Because the statement of charges did not address the authority pursuant to which Southwick had advised the agency that it acted, and because both the statutes the agency charged Southwick with violating are phrased permissively, and do not actually forbid any conduct, Southwick contested this matter.

D. On summary judgment, the agency determines that Southwick did not violate the statutes pled in the statement of charges.

After conducting discovery, AR 363-73, Southwick filed a motion for summary judgment. AR 122-133. The agency's prosecuting authority filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. AR 49-53. Both motions

addressed the issue of whether Southwick had violated either of the statutes identified in the agency's statement of charges.

Cemetery Board member Jim Letson heard the summary judgment motion. AR 241. Board member Letson entered a written decision. AR 278-283 (Appendix C). Board member Letson characterized the two statutes which Southwick had been charged with violating as "authorizing statutes" and held that neither of them forbade Southwick from relocating the urn garden. AR 282 (Conclusion of Law 5).

E. The agency purports to find that Southwick violated a statute whose violation had not been charged.

These determinations should have resulted in the entry of an order terminating the administrative proceedings. However, Board member Letson, without first having given Southwick any notice or opportunity to be heard, went on to hold that Southwick had violated RCW 68.50.140—a statute which criminalizes what is commonly referred to as grave robbery. AR 282 (Conclusion of Law 6).

F. Just a few days before the Board hears Southwick's motion arguing that the Board had entered summary judgment in violation of Southwick's right to due process, the Board serves Southwick with an amended statement of charges which does NOT allege a violation of RCW 68.50.140.

Southwick filed a motion attacking the validity of that portion of the summary judgment ruling on the grounds that the entry of the

summary judgment decision against it violated Southwick's due process rights. AR 382-96.

On November 9, 2015, just a few days before the hearing on this motion, the agency served Southwick with an amended statement of charges. AR 379-81 (Appendix B). This amended statement of charges did **not** allege that Southwick had violated RCW 68.50.140, or describe any penalties that the agency was seeking to impose as a result of the violation of that statute. *Id.*

G. The agency enters a final order which adopts and incorporates by reference the summary judgment order.

On November 18, 2015, in a proceeding presided over by Board Member Letson in which Southwick was prohibited from introducing evidence, AR 401, 407, 415, the agency heard Southwick's motion directed at the validity of Board Member Letson's summary judgment order. AR 407 *et seq.* Over Southwick's objection, AR 439-40, the agency also conducted a hearing at which it permitted the introduction of evidence to determine the penalty the Board should impose based on Board member Letson's summary judgment determination that Southwick had violated RCW 68.50.140. AR 415-16 (describing procedure), AR 440 *et seq.*

On January 6, 2016, the agency entered a final order. AR 2-11 (Appendix D). The final order explicitly affirmed the summary judgment decision, incorporating its findings and conclusions by reference.⁴ AR 5 (Finding of Fact 3.2). The final order imposed penalties on Southwick. AR 8-9.

H. The Court of Appeals holds that the agency entered the summary judgment decision in violation of Southwick's due process rights. But the Court of Appeals affirms the final order which adopted and incorporated by reference that summary judgment decision.

Southwick appealed the final agency order. The Court of Appeals issued a published decision. Appendix E.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals agreed that the entry of the summary judgment decision purporting to find Southwick in violation of RCW 68.50.140 occurred in violation of Southwick's right to due process of law. Slip Opinion at p. 7.

In its briefing to the Court of Appeals, Southwick had pointed out that a decision entered in a manner inconsistent with due process is void. Southwick Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, at p. 18; Reply Brief at p. 8. However, the Court of Appeals did not treat the summary judgment decision as void. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that "Southwick's

⁴ In the final order, the Board purported to find that Southwick had also "violated" RCW 68.24.060. Because the agency's findings of fact "[did] not support the [agency's] conclusion that Southwick violated RCW 68.24.060," suggesting that Southwick had violated this statute, the Court of Appeals reversed the final order on this issue. Slip Opinion at p. 12.

opportunity to argue the applicability of RCW 68.50.140 by its Motion for Reconsideration ultimately satisfied the requirements of procedural due process." Slip Opinion at 2, 6-8.

On the merits, the Court of Appeals noted that RCW 68.50.140 prohibits disinterment of interred human remains "without authority of law." Slip Opinion at p. 9. Adopting a rationale the agency itself had never advanced, the Court of Appeals held that the phrase "without authority of law" contained in RCW 68.50.140 referred only to "specific statutory exceptions," such as RCW 68.24.060 and RCW 68.50.200, in which the Legislature had authorized the disinterment of human remains. *Id.*

Southwick timely filed this Petition for Discretionary Review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals decision eviscerates due process.

The right to due process of law is the oldest and most hallowed of constitutional rights. Originally enacted as part of the Great Charter issued by King John in 1215, it was expressly made part of both the United States and State of Washington constitutions. U.S. Const., Amendment 14, §1; Wash. Const., Art. 1, §3. They each provide that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. *Id.* Due process

requires notice and a prior opportunity to be heard. *State v. Rogers*, 127 Wn.2d 270, 275, 898 P.2d 294 (1995).

This Court has repeatedly held that an order or judgment entered without prior notice or opportunity to be heard is void. See, e.g., *Esmieu v. Schrag*, 88 Wn.2d 490, 497, 563 P.2d 203 (1977); *Sheldon v. Sheldon*, 47 Wn.2d 699, 702, 289 P.2d 335 (1955). The word "void" means "of no legal effect; null." Black's Law Dictionary (9th Ed. 2009) at p. 1709. An order which relies on a void decision is itself void. *Esmieu*, 88 Wn.2d at 497 ("[A] subsequent order based on the faulty hearing is void.").

Here, the agency had charged Southwick with violating two statutes. In its summary judgment decision, the agency expressly held that these statutes, each of which use the word "may," were "authorizing" statutes which Southwick did not violate. AR 282. Because these were the only two statutes which the agency had charged Southwick with violating, that determination should have ended these adjudicative proceedings.

However, taking an action which the Court of Appeals recognized as violating due process (Slip Opinion at 7), the agency held Southwick to have violated RCW 68.50.140. To the extent that the agency, in violation of Southwick's due process rights, addressed that statute in the summary judgment decision, that decision was **void**.

Because that portion of the agency's summary judgment order was void, it had no effect. It was a nullity. Subsequent orders based in any way on that void order are themselves void. See Esmieu, 88 Wn.2d at 497 (citing cases).

Ignoring this Court's directly on-point cases, the Court of Appeals asserted that the void summary judgment order had the effect of providing Southwick notice of the potential violation of RCW 68.50.140. Slip Opinion at 7. But because the summary judgment order was void, and a legal nullity, it could not have this, or any, effect.

To the extent that the agency intended to charge Southwick with violating RCW 68.50.140, the agency had the obligation to provide notice by amending the statement of charges. RCW 34.05.434(g). While the agency did in fact serve Southwick with an amended statement of charges just a few days before the final hearing, the amended statement of charges did not allege a violation of RCW 68.50.140. AR 379-81 (Appendix B).

The Court of Appeals attempted to justify its decision to give effect to a void decision by asserting that there were "no disputed facts," and that "Southwick was entitled to fully present its case to the Board." Slip Opinion at 78. Those claims simply are not true.

The agency entered its summary judgment decision after the opportunity to conduct discovery had closed. AR 32, 241. Southwick had

conducted discovery, but only directed at issues raised by the statutes mentioned in the statement of charges. AR 363-74. Southwick was never provided an opportunity to conduct discovery into the issues arising out of the claimed violation of RCW 68.50.140, because Southwick was never provided notice prior to discovery cutoff that it was charged with violating that statute.

In addition, Southwick had no opportunity to present any evidence. The agency allowed only oral argument in connection with Southwick's motion. AR 415. Compare *Esmieu*, 88 Wn.2d at 497 (After court held an evidentiary hearing without notice to defendant in violation of the defendant's procedural due process rights, court held a second hearing in which it addressed the same issues, but only permitted argument of counsel. Order entered after second hearing held void).

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