PECEIVED

JAN 1 0 2018

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

NO. 95237-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SOUTHWICK, INC., a Washington Corporation,

APPELLANT,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE, AND ITS DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS DIVISION, WASHINGTON STATE FUNERAL AND CEMETERY BOARD

RESPONDENTS.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

R. JULY SIMPSON WSBA # 45869 JONATHAN E. PITEL, WSBA #47516 Assistant Attorneys General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40110 Olympia, WA 98504

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the limited circumstances where this Court will accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals. Southwick is incorrect that the Court of Appeals analysis of procedural due process conflicts with prior Supreme Court decisions, raises a significant constitutional question of law, or involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4).

Rather, the Court of Appeals analysis involves a straightforward application of a general procedural due process principle: that due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard, and under the facts here, Southwick received both. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with

the cases analyzing due process in administrative proceedings and thus does not raise a significant constitutional issue. Southwick merely seeks the chance to re-litigate the same issues.

Further, Southwick fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision regarding Southwick's violations of the statutes governing cemeteries involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. The Court of Appeals determined that Southwick was required to comply with the laws governing Washington cemeteries, applying those laws to unique facts unlikely to arise again. This Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent with Washington Appellate Decisions

Because the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the decisions of this Court, it does not meet the requirements for discretionary review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Southwick fails to identify any cases with which the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts. Rather, Southwick disagrees with the Court's application and analysis of the appropriate law and argues the Court of Appeals should have reached a different outcome by applying a case with different underlying facts: *Esmieu v. Schrag*, 88 Wn.2d 490, 563 P.2d 203 (1977). Pet. for Review 13-14.

In *Esmieu*, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing to determine the interpretation of a trust and approve agreements executed by the trustees. *Esmieu*, 88 Wn.2d at 492-93. Neither the defendants nor their counsel received any notice of the hearing, and they did not appear. *Id.* At that hearing, the court took testimony from the other parties on the advisability of the agreements. *Id.* at 492. Several weeks later, the trial court held a second hearing at which it permitted argument by the parties, including defendants' counsel, but took no evidence. *Id.* The court then issued an order based solely on the evidence presented at the first hearing for which the defendants had received no notice. *Id.* at 494.

This Court held that, under these circumstances, the order violated the defendants' due process rights because they had not had adequate notice or a meaningful opportunity to be heard because the order was based exclusively on the evidence presented at the hearing of which they had no notice. *Id.* at 495-96. The subsequent hearing did not cure the error because defendants' counsel only had an opportunity to present legal arguments, and could not present *evidence* on "the issue at the heart of the controversy between the parties." *Id.* at 497.

In contrast, the Board's Final Order was not based on the briefing and argument on Summary Judgment made before the Presiding Officer or the Presiding Officer's Order. Instead, the Board granted Southwick's Motion for Reconsideration and issued a Final Order based on *all* of the briefing and argument, including Southwick's argument regarding RCW 68.50.140. Thus there was no curative hearing in *Esmieu*, but Southwick had notice and the opportunity to be heard regarding the violation of RCW 68.50.140 before the Board issued its Final Order. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and *Esmieu*.

Further, Southwick argues that it "was never provided an opportunity to conduct discovery into the issues arising out of the claimed violation of RCW 68.50.140" or "to present any evidence." Pet for Review 16. However, Southwick has never contested the underlying facts of the case. Southwick admits that it exhumed and reburied the cremains of 37 individuals without attempting to notify their next of kin. Those facts are undisputed and Southwick has never identified what evidence regarding the moving of human remains it would have submitted. Instead, Southwick's defense—at every juncture—has been entirely legal. It simply believes that the undisputed facts do not amount to a violation of any law.

Moreover, as the Board explained, the statutes included in the amended Statement of Charges, RCW 68.50.200 and RCW 68.50.220 pertain to the moving of human remains, just as RCW 68.50.140 does. AR 7-8. RCW 68.50.140 contains a general prohibition against disturbing human remains, while RCW 68.50.220 provides an exception to that

general prohibition. *Id.* In alleging that Southwick violated RCW 68.50.220, the Board asserted that Southwick did not comply with that exception's notification requirements—the exact same nexus of facts Southwick admits and the basis for the Final Order.

Southwick fully briefed and argued its legal positions before the full Board at the motion for reconsideration hearing, including its argument that the facts do not amount to a violation of RCW 68.50.140. AR 382-398; *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 895. The Court of Appeals conclusion that Southwick received sufficient notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard was correct and does not conflict with *Esmieu*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

And, as Southwick tacitly admits, the decision below is also consistent with the other case from this Court it cites, *Sheldon v. Sheldon*, 47 Wn.2d 699, 289 P.2d 335 (1955). *See* Pet. for Review 14. *Sheldon* presented a very narrow issue: whether at a default hearing in a domestic matter, a trial court could award greater custody than was sought in the plaintiff's complaint. *Sheldon v. Sheldon*, 47 Wn.2d 699, 703-04, 289 P.2d 335 (1955). Because the trial court "granted the plaintiff additional relief without first giving the defendant notice of its proposed action and an opportunity to appear and defend her right[s]," this Court held the judgment was entered without notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. *Id.* ("A defendant has a right to allow a default to be taken against him, secure

in the knowledge that the judgment of decree will not exceed the demand of the complaint.").

Again, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and this Court's decision in *Sheldon*. There, the trial court's default judgment granted final relief against the defendant of which she had no notice and thus no opportunity to contest the decision. Here, Southwick had notice that RCW 68.50.140 was at issue based on the initial summary judgment order *before* its hearing before the full Board. And Southwick had the opportunity to be heard on why it believed the facts did not amount to a violation of that statute, an opportunity which it took full advantage of.

Under the decisions of this Court, procedural due process requires "notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard," appropriate for each particular situation. The Court of Appeals imposed the scrutiny demanded. Southwick had notice of the issues before the Board and had a meaningful opportunity to fully argue its position. *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 898. Southwick has not demonstrated that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any appellate decision and review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Present a Significant Constitutional Issue

This Court may grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision if it involves a significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3). This case does not meet this criteria because the Court of Appeals correctly

applied the existing law governing due process in the administrative context. The requirements of notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard may be met even if an allegation is not included in the charging documents, so long as the issue is fully litigated. *International Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 469 v. Public Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 38 Wn. App. 572, 579, 686 P.2d 1122 (1984), *review denied*, 102 Wn.2d 1021 (1984). The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Southwick received "notice and an opportunity to be heard" on the issue of whether its conduct violated RCW 68.50.140 because the issue was fully litigated before the Board entered the final order. *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 897-98.

As this Court has explained, "The constitutional guaranty of due process of law in its essence requires notice and an opportunity to be heard." State v. Rogers, 127 Wn.2d 270, 275, 898 P.2d 294 (1995). Specifically in the context of administrative discipline, due process requires notice of the charges and a meaningful opportunity to contest them. Martin v. Dep't of Licensing, 175 Wn. App. 9, 21, 306 P.3d 969 (2013). Even when an allegation was not included in the charging documents, the administrative decision will be upheld "where there is sufficient notice and the issue is fully litigated." International Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 469, 38 Wn. App. at 579 ("[W]here there is sufficient notice and the issue is fully litigated, even though absent from the pleadings, the administrative law judge's

decision will be upheld.") (citing NLRB v. Highway & Local Motor Freight Employees, Local 667, 654 F.2d 254, 256 (6th Cir. 1978)). There is no due process violation if a party has had the ability to prepare and present its defense. Motley-Motley v. State of Washington, Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 127 Wn. App. 62, 81, 110 P.2d 812 (2005).

Even though a violation of RCW 68.50.140 was not specifically alleged in the charging documents, Southwick ultimately had notice of that alleged violation and received an opportunity for "full briefing and argument regarding RCW 68.50.140." *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 898. In the motion for reconsideration and in argument before the Board, Southwick fully briefed and argued that purely legal issue: "the applicability of RCW 68.50.140 to the undisputed facts." *Id.* That argument was considered in the Board's final order. *Id.* Because the underlying facts of this case were undisputed—Southwick admitted it moved 37 sets of cremains without notifying the next of kin—the Court properly concluded that "the opportunity to brief and argue a purely legal issue is a meaningful and appropriate opportunity to be heard," even though the full briefing and argument was in a motion for reconsideration. *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 898.

Finally, Southwick appears to raise a new argument: that due to infirmities in the Presiding Officer's initial order on summary judgment,

that order could not constitute notice to Southwick of the RCW 68.50.140 violation, and that the Board could not even issue its Final Order. Pet. for Review 14-15, 16-17. Southwick asserts, without legal support, that the Board "had the obligation to provide notice by amending the statement of charges." Pet. for Review 15. But, as discussed, the APA does not require a violation to be included in a statement of charges in order for the agency's order to be valid, so long as the issue is ultimately fully litigated. International Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 469, 38 Wn. App. at 579.

The order under review here is the Board's Final Order, not the order on summary judgment. Thus, the relevant consideration is whether, prior to entry of the Board's Final Order, Southwick had notice of the charges it was facing and a meaningful opportunity to contest those charges. It did. Again, *Esmieu* is instructive. There, the Court's subsequent orders and actions were void because there was no curative event; the defendants were *never* provided the opportunity to present evidence on the critical issue before the court. *Esmieu*, 88 Wn.2d at 495-96. In contrast, here, Southwick had the opportunity to present all necessary evidence and make all relevant legal arguments about whether its conduct amounted to a violation of RCW 68.50.140 before the Board's entered its Final Order. The Final Order was not based on the arguments presented before the presiding officer, but

instead on Southwick's admitted conduct and the legal arguments it made before the full Board.

In the context of a case with undisputed facts, the Court of Appeals properly determined Southwick had notice and an opportunity to be heard because it "was able to fully present its case before the Board." *Id.* at 898. Thus this case raises no significant constitutional issues or issues of substantial public interest. Review should be denied.

C. Requiring Southwick To Comply with the Laws Governing Cemeteries Is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Finally, Southwick's disagreement with the Court of Appeals decision does not present a matter of substantial public interest. The Court's affirmation of the Board's order merely requires Southwick to comply with the laws governing cemeteries in Washington and recognizes that Southwick cannot insulate itself from regulation simply by virtue of its own rules. That decision is entirely consistent with the law.

RCW 68.50.140(4) prohibits any person from removing or disinterring human remains from a place of interment without authority of law. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, cemetery authorities such as Southwick may move human remains between plots in the same cemetery, so long as they first notify the next of kin. RCW 68.50.220; *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 901-02. Again, Southwick does not dispute that it moved the

cremains nor that it did so without first notifying the next of kin. Southwick's only remaining contention is that its own internal rules excused it complying with the laws of the State of Washington. Pet. for Review 18.

Southwick argues that its internal rules granted it "authority of law" to move the cremains while disregarding the notice requirements of RCW 68.50.220. Pet. for Review 18. The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected this argument. The Court noted that while "Southwick may have statutory authority to enact its own internal rules and regulations, the rules and regulations themselves are not the law." *Southwick*, 200 Wn. App. at 902. Southwick itself admits the validity of this statement: "The phrase authority of law refers to any authority granted by a valid statute, common law, or rule of the court." Pet. for Review 19 (citing *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 68-69, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)). Southwick's internal rules are not a "statute, common law, or court rule." Therefore, as the Court of Appeals held, "Southwick's internal rules and regulations do not provide the 'authority of law' required by RCW 68.50.140." *Id.*

A regulated entity may not absolve itself of the statutory restraints imposed by the legislature by enacting its own "rules," because cemeteries may not adopt rules that circumvent or contravene the statutes that regulate them. See Arnold v. City of Seattle, 185 Wn.2d 510, 527-28, 374 P.3d 111 (2016). To hold otherwise would upend the State's entire regulatory regime

for cemeteries. Southwick's position would lead to the absurd result that the legislature created a thorough regulatory regime governing cemeteries, created a Board to enforce that regulatory regime, and then granted cemeteries the means to evade those regulations. For example, Southwick's interpretation would allow cemeteries to adopt rules permitting racial discrimination, despite the statute prohibiting cemeteries from refusing to bury anyone based on race. RCW 68.50.035. Southwick may not insulate itself from its obligation to obey the law by adopting contrary internal rules.

Finally, despite Southwick's claims, it has provided no evidence beyond its own bare assertions that the Court of Appeals decision will have any effect beyond compelling it to comply with the laws of the State of Washington. The regulatory regime created by the Legislature permits cemeteries to adopt internal rules and regulations, consistent with the requirements of state law. There is no indication that any other cemetery has attempted to circumvent those requirements by adopting contrary internal rules. And even if there were, the Court of Appeals published pronouncement that such an attempt is incorrect and contrary to law is sufficient. This Court does not need to grant review to further reject Southwick's absurd position that a cemetery authority can adopt internal rules that are inconsistent with the laws and regulations of this state. Review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

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